

POSITION PAPER* ON INDOOR AIR QUALITY

*Excluding Radon and Environmental Tobacco Smoke. The main focus of this paper is on the air pollutants associated with domestic use of Solid Fuels

Prepared by:

Dr Regina Kiernan Dr Keith Ian Quintyne Dr Ina Kelly Dr Ruth McDermott Dr Caitriona Kelly

AIR QUALITY SUB-GROUP

On behalf of the **PUBLIC HEALTH MEDICINE ENVIRONMENT AND HEALTH GROUP** (PHMEHG)



MAY 13, 2022 HSE

Abbreviations

AQIH	Air Quality Index for Health
CAFE	Ambient Air Quality and Cleaner Air for Europe Directive (2008/50/EC)
СО	Carbon monoxide
CO ₂	Carbon dioxide
COVID-19	Coronavirus disease
DCCAE	Department of Communications, Climate Action and Environment
EPA	Environmental Protection Agency
ETS	Environmental tobacco smoke
EU	European Union
HiAP	Health in All Policies
HPSC	Health Protection Surveillance Centre
HVAC	Heating, ventilation, and air conditioning
IAQ	Indoor air quality
NO ₂	Nitrogen dioxide
PM	Particulate matter
PM _{2.5}	Fine particulate matter that is 2.5 microns or smaller in size.
PAHs	Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons
PHMEHG	Public Health Medicine Environment and Health Group
SARS-Co-V-2	Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2
VOCs	Volatile organic compounds
WHO	World Health Organization

Table of Contents

Abbreviations1
Table of Contents 2
Summary
Background 4
Pollutants
Health Effects
Health effects of Pollutants associated with domestic use of solid fuels
Volatile Organic Carbons / Benzene / Formaldehyde6
Biological air pollutants
Vulnerable populations
Guidelines / Standards
Air Pollution from Solid Fuel Burning in Ireland
Prevention of Air Pollution from Solid Fuel Burning11
Source Control
Justice in transition to cleaner energy sources12
Measures to reduce energy poverty12
Addressing loss of income and way of life for turf-harvesters
Increased energy efficiency14
Communication14
Ventilation
Integrated approach16
Conclusions
PHMEHG recommendations
Bibliography

Summary

Poor air quality is estimated to cause 1, 400 premature deaths in Ireland annually, with air pollution resulting from the production of particulate matter (PM) and other pollutants from solid fuel burning contributing to 1,300 of these deaths¹. New research has found increased evidence of adverse health effects at much lower levels of air pollution than had previously thought, particularly cardiovascular and respiratory conditions. Population most vulnerable to the impacts of poor air quality include children, pregnant women, older people, and people with underlying chronic health conditions, low-income and minority and ethnic groups.

Irish research has found that in winter, over 60% of ambient air pollution is caused by burning peat, and 10% due to burning wood². This has resulted in frequent exceedances of the older 2005 World Health Organization (WHO) air quality guidelines for PM and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) especially in smaller towns and villages where the burning of solid fuel is often more common or where there are less-alternatives for home-heating. The ban on burning smoky coal was extended nationwide in January 2022 and new solid fuel regulations covering other smoky fuels will be introduced in September 2022³. This should result in improvements in air quality measurements. However, it does not cover the burning of turf which is used by many households in the midlands and northwest.

The updated 2021 WHO Air Quality Guidelines have set pollution levels that are significantly lower than previously⁴. The CAFE Directive European Union (EU) air quality standards which are legally binding are currently being reviewed and may be brought in line with the updated stricter WHO guidelines. Whilst measurements of concentrations of PM_{2.5} and PAHs are currently below the CAFE Directive air quality standards, any revision may mean that Ireland consistently fails to meet the new legally binding levels.

Strategies to improve indoor air quality include:

- 1. Source Control, transitioning to cleaner fuels and policies to reduce the emissions from solid fuels and stoves
- 2. Justice in transition to enable the above, in terms of:
 - i. Implementing an energy poverty strategy ensuring that cleaner fuels are affordable for all households
 - ii. Addressing loss of income for turf-harvesters
- 3. Increasing energy efficiencies, with building regulations for new builds and increasing retrofitting of older housing stock
- 4. Improved ventilation through building regulations
- 5. Improving air quality standards and extended air monitoring networks
- 6. Communication and raising awareness amongst households
- 7. An integrated, interdisciplinary Health in All Policies (HiAP) approach

Background

Indoor Air Quality (IAQ) refers to the air quality within and around buildings and structures, especially as it relates to the health and comfort of building occupants⁵.

Indoor air pollution is increasingly recognised as a public health problem^{6, 7, 8, 9, 10}. Most people, especially in urban areas spend around 90% of their time indoors, whether at home, at work, in schools or other locations^{11, 12, 13}. Factors affecting indoor air quality include ventilation, cleaning conditions, building characteristics, products used in households, cultural habits, climate and outdoor environment¹⁴. Concentrations of air pollutants can be higher indoors than outdoors^{15, 16, 17}. While the source of some air pollutants is from outside, the origin of most air pollutants is from inside the building itself, e.g. burning fuel or cleaning products^{18, 19}. Because of this personal exposures to these contaminants are not adequately captured by outdoor / ambient air monitoring²⁰. Management of indoor air quality²¹.

Pollutants

There are over 900 indoor air pollutants²². Amongst the more important indoor air pollutants associated with health effects are^{23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31}:

- particulate matter (PM), especially PM_{2.5},
- carbon monoxide (CO),
- nitrogen dioxide (NO₂),
- environmental tobacco smoke (ETS)
- radon
- volatile organic compounds (VOCs) including benzene
- polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs)
- biological air pollutants bacteria, fungi, viruses including SARS Co-V-2, and pollen

Whilst environmental tobacco smoke and radon are both important indoor air pollutants they are not covered in this paper. The main focus is on air pollutants associated with domestic use of solid fuels.

Health Effects

Poor air quality is estimated to cause 1, 400 premature deaths in Ireland annually, with air pollution resulting from the production of particulate matter (PM) and other pollutants from solid fuel burning contributing to 1,300 of these deaths³². PM is also associated with significant morbidity³³.

Health effects of Pollutants associated with domestic use of solid fuels

Particulate Matter

Both $PM_{2.5}$ and PM_{10} are capable of penetrating deep into the lungs but $PM_{2.5}$ and ultrafine PM can enter the bloodstream, resulting in cardiovascular and respiratory impacts, and also

affecting other organs. PM_{2.5} are particulate matter with a diameter of 2.5 μ m or less and ultrafine PM are <0.1 μ m. The degree of toxicity is greater for smaller particles³⁴. The range of health effects that PM_{2.5} can cause includes^{35, 36, 37, 38, 39, 40}:

- Asthmatic attacks
- Bronchitis
- Bronchiolitis
- Pneumonia
- Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease
- Lung cancer
- Eye, nose, and throat irritation
- Coughing
- Sneezing
- Runny nose
- Shortness of breath
- Cardiovascular disease
- Stroke

New epidemiological studies have found increased evidence of adverse health effects at much lower levels of air pollution than had previously been studied^{41, 42}. In fact there is growing evidence that the adverse health effects of air pollution can be observed all the way down to very low concentration levels, with no observable thresholds below which exposure can be considered safe⁴³. The Air Quality Index for Health which was developed by the <u>EPA</u> and the <u>HSE</u> provides health advice for the general public based on the air quality measurements at their nearest air monitoring station.

Carbon Monoxide

Carbon Monoxide (CO) is a colourless, odourless, poisonous gas. Important indoor sources are incomplete combustion of domestic fuels from badly-installed, faulty, damaged or blocked appliances, chimney or flue in association with poor ventilation. Particulate matter emission dominates at the start of combustion but CO dominates at the end⁴⁴.

Common short-term symptoms of CO poisoning include poor concentration, memory and vision problems at low levels. Higher levels can cause vomiting, nausea, weakness, dizziness, fatigue, headache, increased symptoms of ischaemic heart disease and loss of consciousness^{45, 46}. At very high levels CO can kill within a matter of hours. On average six people die annually from accidental CO poisoning. However, one study examining HIPE data estimated that CO poisoning is responsible for over 40 deaths per year in Ireland, when house fires are included⁴⁷. Long term exposure to low levels of CO may produce heart disease and damage to the nervous system, and it is a category 1 reproductive toxin⁴⁸.

Nitrogen Dioxide

The most important indoor sources of NO₂ include ETS, and as with PM and CO incomplete combustion of domestic fuels⁴⁹. The threshold levels for indoor NO₂ the same as the ambient air guideline. Exposure to levels above the threshold levels result in adverse respiratory

health effects such as increased inflammation of the lungs, cough and wheezing and increased asthmatic attacks and reduced lung function⁵⁰.

Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons

Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) are emitted from the combustion of solid fuels, such as peat, wood and coal. Domestic heating is the dominant source. PAHs and in particular benzo (a) pyrene (BaP), which is used as a marker for PAHs, are known carcinogens⁵¹. Ireland was above the EU reference levels at 4 of the 5 monitoring stations for PAHs in 2020⁵².

Volatile Organic Carbons / Benzene / Formaldehyde

Volatile organic compounds (VOCs) are emitted as gases from certain solids or liquids. They can have short- and long-term adverse health effects. Concentrations of many VOCs are consistently higher indoors (up to ten times higher) than outdoors⁵³. VOCs are emitted by a very wide range of products, including the following common products and indoor furnishings, e.g.:

- Petrol, other fuels, and solvents.
- Paints, stains, strippers, and finishes.
- Pesticides.
- Personal care products.
- Aerosol sprays.
- Cleaners, disinfectants and room deodorisers.
- New furniture.
- New carpets, rugs, and wood floors
- Office equipment such as copiers and printers

Health effects of VOCs include:

- Eye, nose and throat irritation,
- epistaxis,
- allergic skin reactions,
- headaches,
- loss of coordination,
- nausea,
- Shortness of breath,
- liver, kidney and central nervous system damage.

Benzene can also cause cancer and no safe level of exposure is recommended⁵⁴. The WHO threshold limit value is 100 mg/m³.

Indoor exposures to formaldehyde through inhalation is the dominant contributor to personal exposure and indoor concentrations may be high enough to cause adverse health effects⁵⁵. However, formaldehyde can be smelled at levels below those which cause short-

term sensory irritation effects. The use of the short-term (30-minute) guideline of 0.1 mg/m3 will also prevent long-term health effects, including cancer.

General mitigating measures for VOCs include reducing use of these products, increasing ventilation when using these products, or to use outdoors only. Products should be used according to the manufacturer's instructions^{56, 57}.

As VOC emissions reduce over time, use, reuse and repair of older furniture and products has value here.

Biological air pollutants

Exposure to microbial contaminants is associated with respiratory symptoms, allergies and asthma, and can affect the immunological system⁵⁸, ⁵⁹. Sick-building syndrome is a non-specific group of symptoms that can affect multiple occupants of a building⁶⁰. Symptoms include flu-like symptoms, headaches, nausea, and irritation of the eyes, nose, and throat⁶¹, ⁶². Poor indoor air quality can reduce the performance of office workers by 6–9%⁶³.

We have become very aware of the risk of COVID-19 which results from exposure of vulnerable people to SARS Co-V-2, especially in poorly ventilated crowded indoor spaces.

Vulnerable populations

Population most vulnerable to the impacts of poor air quality include but are not limited to:^{64, 65, 66, 67, 68, 69}

- Children
- Pregnant women
- Older people
- People with underlying chronic health conditions, e.g. cardiovascular or respiratory conditions
- Low-income
- Minority and ethnic groups

Guidelines / Standards

Air Quality Guidelines

The World Health Organization (WHO) has developed guidelines for indoor air quality on different topics⁷⁰:

- biological indoor air pollutants (dampness and mould)⁷¹
- pollutant-specific guidelines (chemical pollution)⁷²
- pollutants from indoor combustion of fuels⁷³
- as well as updated ambient air quality guidelines⁷⁴.

WHO indoor air quality guidelines for household fuel combustion recommendations include⁷⁵: setting emission rate targets for household stoves for PM_{2.5} and CO; encouraging governments to increase access to clean fuels and encouraging the maintenance and replacement of stoves over time; and preventing use of unprocessed coal as a household fuel.

The updated WHO Air Quality Guidelines set pollution levels that are significantly lower than previously, especially for the six air pollutants with the largest health impact where evidence has advanced the most⁷⁶. WHO guidelines are advisory only, however, the European Union (EU) air quality standards are legally binding.

Air Quality Standards

Within the EU a series of Directives set the ambient air quality standards to provide protection from excessive pollution concentrations:

- the Ambient Air Quality and Cleaner Air for Europe (CAFE) Directive (2008/50/EC),
- and the fourth daughter Directive 2004/107/EC.

The CAFE Directive was transposed into Irish legislation by the Air Quality Standards Regulations 2011 (S.I. No. 180 of 2011). The 4th Daughter Directive was transposed by the Arsenic, Cadmium, Mercury, Nickel and Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons in Ambient Air Regulations 2009 (S.I. No. 58 of 2009).

A comparison of the current EU standards with the 2005 and the updated 2021 ACQ are given in the following table.

Pollutant	Averaging period	EU standard	WHO 2005 AQG	WHO 2021 ACQ	
Fine particles	24 hours		25 μg/m³	15 μg/m³	
(PM _{2.5})	1 year	20 µg/m³	10 μg/m³	5 μg/m³	
Sulphur dioxide (SO ₂)	24 hours	125 μg/m³	20 μg/m³	40 μg/m³	
Nitrogen dioxide (NO ₂)	1 year	40 μg/m ³	40 μg/m³	10 μg/m³	
PM ₁₀	24 hours	50 μg/m³	50 μg/m³	45 μg/m³	
	1 year	40 μg/m ³	20 µg/m³	15 μg/m³	
Carbon	Maximum daily	10 mg/m ³	*10mg/m ³ in 8	4 mg/m ³ in 24	
monoxide (CO)	8 hour mean		hours	hours	
			7mg/m ³ in 24 hours		

*2010 guideline⁷⁷

As part of the European Green Deal (zero pollution ambition), the EU is revising these standards, to align them more closely with the 2021 updated recommendations of the World Health Organization.

Recommendations

The PHMEHG has made a submission to Consultation on the Development of a New Solid Fuel Regulation for Ireland, 2021⁷⁸. The recommendations included:

- Timely updating and strengthening of current Irish air quality standards. And that the requirement for regular updating should be embedded in legislation
- Standards should be set according to health benefits, not associated costs
- The extension of ambient air quality network to include more residential settings, to allow for more granular identification of 'hot spots' of air pollution

Air Pollution from Solid Fuel Burning in Ireland

Residential heating with solid fuel is an important source of ambient (outdoor) air pollution; but it can also cause substantial indoor air pollution through either direct exposure or infiltration from outside^{79, 80}.

	% of weighted households							
	Natural gas	Heating oil ¹	Electricity	Solid fuel ²	Other			
Border	4%	66%	7%	20%	2%			
Dublin	69%	8%	18%	2%	1%			
Mid-East	45%	36%	8%	6%	2%			
Mid-West	27%	43%	13%	13%	3%			
Midland	16%	44%	6%	31%	2%			
South-East	20%	52%	11%	14%	1%			
South-West	33%	44%	11%	8%	2%			
West	6%	58%	13%	17%	3%			
State	37%	37%	12%	11%	2%			

The following table from the census quarterly household behaviours surveys for Quarter 3 2021 shows the main heating fuel used by region⁸¹.

¹Kerosene, diesel/gas oil and LPG; ²Wood logs, coal, peat and wood pellets

In addition, solid fuel is used as a supplementary heating source so the incidence of solid fuel use is higher⁸².

In 2015, the average Irish dwelling emitted 60% more energy related carbon dioxide (CO_2) than any other EU country⁸³. 15% of energy used in Irish households is from direct use of coal and peat. These are the two most carbon intensive fuels, and Ireland uses more of them per dwelling than any other EU member state, apart from Poland⁸⁴.

There have been little measurement of indoor air pollutant levels in Ireland. Research carried out on behalf of the EPA in Irish and Scottish homes in 2013 found that peat-burning homes had PM_{2.5} concentrations approximately twice that of ambient air with the average 24-hour PM_{2.5} concentrations being almost six times the WHO 2005 air quality standard

value of 25 μ g/m^{3 85}. Modern wood burning stoves can also result in emissions which contribute to ambient air pollution exceeding guideline levels⁸⁶.

Irish research of ambient air quality has found that whilst measurements of concentrations of PM_{2.5} and PAHs are below the CAFE Directive air quality standards, the WHO 2005 air quality guideline levels were exceeded at many of the air monitoring sites especially in winter time^{87, 88}. A study published in 2021 found that the 2005 WHO AQ guidelines were exceeded on 1 in 5 days in winter in Ireland during 2021. The authors found that 62% of air pollution during winter was caused by peat, with wood being responsible for 10%, coal 3% and oil / traffic 13%. 70% of the high pollution levels during these events was attributed to peat and wood burning, despite only a small percentage of residential homes using peat or wood as a primary fuel type⁸⁹.

The figure below shows that elevated $PM_{2.5}$ is more prevalent in smaller towns and villages (zones C and D) where the burning of solid fuel is often more common or where there are less-alternatives for home-heating.



Figure: Long-term trends in ambient PM_{2.5} concentrations for Zones (using selected stations) in Ireland (with national emissions figures presented in bar chart)⁹⁰ (Environmental Protection Agency, 2021).

Ennis, Enniscorthy and Letterkenny regularly exceed the 2005 WHO air quality guideline values especially on cold winter days with thermal inversion⁹¹. The PHMEHG has in their submission on the development of a new solid fuel regulation recommended the extension of the smoky fuel ban nationwide⁹². The smoky coal ban was extended nationwide in January 2022 and new solid fuel regulations covering other smoky fuels will be introduced in September 2022⁹³. The findings from ambient air quality measurements during 2022/2023 will inform the effectiveness of this ban. Turf which is widely used in rural areas is not covered by this legislation so we may not see the expected improvement in air quality. It is highly likely that Ireland will fail to meet the updated WHO air quality guidelines nationally.

Prevention of Air Pollution from Solid Fuel Burning

Strategies to improve indoor air quality include^{94, 95, 96}:

- 1. Source Control and policies to reduce the emissions from solid fuels and stoves used for domestic heating^{97, 98, 99}
- 2. Implementing a just transition and an energy poverty strategy¹⁰⁰
- 3. Increasing energy efficiencies
- 4. Improved Ventilation^{101, 102}
- 5. Use of air cleaners¹⁰³
- 6. Improving air quality standards and extended air monitoring networks¹⁰⁴
- 7. Communication and raising awareness¹⁰⁵
- 8. Integrated, interdisciplinary approach¹⁰⁶

Source Control

Usually the most effective way to improve indoor air quality is to eliminate individual sources of pollution or to reduce their emissions¹⁰⁷.

Switching to cleaner fuels

Residential solid fuel heating is the largest source of $PM_{2.5}$ and PAHs (responsible for over 50% and 90% respectively) in Ireland so tackling this source should have a significant impact on both PM and PAHs, in addition to CO and NO_2^{108} . A 2021 EPA report estimates show that specifically targeting 100% reduction of emissions of wood and peat would reduce PM concentrations by 52–70%¹⁰⁹. However, the use of wood as a heating fuel may be increasing in part as a response to higher fossil fuel prices¹¹⁰. And threats of black outs will lead to increased reliance on sold fuels¹¹¹.

In Ireland the prohibition of the sale and marketing of smoky coal was first introduced in Dublin in 1990 and then by 2020 was extended to all cities and towns with populations above 10,000. Research on the effects of the smoky coal bans in Ireland has found an improvement in both air quality and health, especially for respiratory outcomes^{112, 113}. The successive Irish coal bans resulted in immediate and sustained decreases in PM concentrations in each city or town where the bans were introduced; with the largest decreases in winter and during the heating season. The bans were associated with reductions in respiratory mortality and hospitalisations. There was a smaller reduction in hospital admissions for cardiovascular disease but no detectable improvement in cardiovascular mortality.

Since the beginning of 2022 the smoky coal ban has been extended nationwide and regulations will be introduced in September 2022 to cover other smoky fuels¹¹⁴. These regulations will cover coal, peat briquettes and wood, but turf is not expected to be included. Coal, coal-based products, any manufactured solid fuel or peat briquettes sold in the State are now required to have a smoke emission rate of less than 10grams/hour, reducing to 5g/hr by 2025. Sulphur content permitted for all fuels will be reduced from 2% to 1% over time. Wood sold in single units under 2 cubic metres in size will be required to have a moisture content of 25% or less moving to 20% within four years. Wet wood sold

over these volumes will be required to come with instructions for the purchaser on how to dry this wood.

In its submission on the new solid fuel regulation, the PHMEHG note that a lack of uniformity of standards across Ireland pertaining to solid fuel regulation creates health inequities and that a more standard approach across Ireland would highlight problems and aid abatement measures in the most polluted parts of the country¹¹⁵.

Recommendations

• The PHMEHG supports the extension of the smoky fuel ban across Ireland.

Justice in transition to cleaner energy sources

The transition from smoky carbon based fuel sources to cleaner energy sources can result in increased inequity between those that can afford the transition and those that cannot if supportive measures are not put in place to ease the transition.

Measures to reduce energy poverty

Three factors can cause Energy Poverty:

- Income.
- Energy costs.
- The energy efficiency of their home.

A household is considered energy poor if it spends more than 10% of their disposable income on energy costs. The WHO 2019 country profile for environmental inequalities found that the energy poverty rate in Ireland increased 1.9 times between 2008 and 2016. The proportion of the population reporting problems paying energy bills increased from 9% to > 17% during this time period¹¹⁶. Energy costs have soared since the start of the recent war in Ukraine in February 2022. This will result in a large increase in the population of Ireland at risk from energy poverty.

Reliance on traditional solid fuels is closely linked to poverty¹¹⁷. There is an association between energy poverty levels and areas of deprivation with residential pollution hot spots where solid fuel is used as the primary heating source¹¹⁸. Households at risk of energy poverty may buy solid fuels because of the heating system available to them and the fact that solid fuels can be purchased on demand in smaller amounts. While more research is required, almost all of the identified residential pollution hot spots in Ireland are in deprived or very deprived areas. These areas predominantly use coals or peat for heating with little use of oil or gas and thus the potential exists for negative impacts on air quality to elevate mortality and add to deprivation in these areas¹¹⁹.

Economic measures to promote the uptake of low emission fuels should be implemented alongside measures to reduce emissions from domestic fuel use and policies on energy efficiency^{120, 121}. Care needs to be given to ensure that, where possible, fuel poverty does not arise as a consequence of this policy. Securing a rapid transition to clean, efficient and

modern household energy systems for cooking, heating, lighting and other household uses will present challenges, especially for lower-income households¹²². There is a need for much more emphasis on accelerating access to clean household fuels.

Recommendations

The following two recommendations are from the PHMEHG submission on solid fuel regulation¹²³:

- The PHMEHG recommends implementation of significant and sustainable incentives for all using solid fuels to switch to less polluting production alternatives/techniques.
- The PHMEHG recommends that less polluting fuels are made more affordable and easily available for households that suffer from fuel poverty.
- In addition the PHMEHG strongly recommends the implementation of the Energy Efficiency and Energy Poverty a Strategy to Combat Energy Poverty 2016-2019 which sets out the national strategy to address energy poverty.

The PHMEHG commends the government for the recent review of the National Home Energy Upgrade Scheme. This now provides for increased grant levels of up to 50% of the cost of a typical retrofit to a B2 BER standard (up from the current 30 - 35% grants), in addition to increasing the number of free energy upgrades for those at risk of energy poverty to 400 per month.

Recommendation

• The PHMEHG recommends that the revised National Home Energy Upgrade Scheme be implemented as quickly as possible.

Addressing loss of income and way of life for turf-harvesters

Cutting and harvesting turf in the summer months has been a way of life for many people living in rural areas, especially in the midlands. Many families have an area of bog which generation after generation have harvested to provide them with enough fuel to warm their houses during the winter months. It is also sold on to neighbours to help them likewise to heat their homes. These turf-harvesters face an uncertain future. There has also been a dramatic reduction in commercial peat production with resultant loss of employment. Other countries have shown that a just transition is possible by engaging with stakeholders and offering a significant financial support and other social safety nets to those disproportionately affected by the transition¹²⁴.

Recommendation

- PHMEHG recommends that all stakeholders should work together to consider how to encourage reduced use of turf without resulting in negative financial impact on households affected.
- PHMEHG commends the Irish government for funding a Just Transition programme for the Midlands. This will include retraining, funding for new enterprises including in renewable energy and investment in the tourism,

heritage and leisure sectors. This initiative if successful should be extended to other parts of the country where turf is harvested.

Increased energy efficiency

More efficient heating methods can reduce emissions from solid fuel heating devices^{125, 126}. Policies on energy efficiency should be implemented alongside measures to reduce emissions from domestic fuel use^{127, 128}. The EU Energy Performance of Buildings Directive as amended by Directive (EU) 2018/844 was transposed into Irish law through Part L of the Second Schedule to the Building Regulations (Energy Performance of Buildings) Regulations (S.I. No. 292 of 2019 and S.I. No. 393 of 2021)¹²⁹. Part L deals with improving energy efficiency, reducing CO₂ emissions and limiting heat loss from buildings¹³⁰. These regulations have led to an improvement in energy efficiency of housing stock^{131, 132}. New houses or those renovated require a Building Energy Rating (BER) of B2 or equivalent. A BER certificate shows a building's energy performance. Most existing dwellings (houses or apartments) are energy inefficient. Seventy-eight per cent of dwellings have a C2 BER or worse¹³³.

The Eco Design Directive 2009/125/EC covers all energy-related products sold in the domestic, commercial and industrial sectors. The Directive was transcribed into Irish law by S.I. No. 96/2021 - European Union (Ecodesign Requirements for Certain Energy-related Products) (Amendment) Regulations 2021. 'Ecodesign' means that there is a greater focus on lifetime energy use and other environmental aspects during the conception and design phases, before it is manufactured and brought to market. Its primary aim is to reduce energy use, however it is also aimed at reducing polluting emissions. The Directive came into effect in January 2022 for eco-design requirements for solid fuel local space heaters. This will impact the specification and certification of new solid fuel burners coming into the market. The Energy Labelling regulation 2017/1369 complements the Ecodesign Directive by providing the information about the performance of the appliances.

Recommendations

- The PHMEHG recommends that the Eco Design Directive and Energy Labelling Directive be considered as a means to improve air quality and reduce the emissions from solid fuel appliances for sale on the market in Ireland.
- The PHMEHG recommends that the resources required to enforce the requirements under these directives are put in place.

Communication

Policies to reduce the use of smoky fuels and the transition to cleaner fuels, together with measures to increase energy efficiencies and reduce energy poverty need to be supplemented by raising the information and communication profile of the issue to householders¹³⁴.

The 'ABC for Cleaner Air' campaign, launched by the Department of Communications, Climate Action and Environment (DCCAE) in 2021, highlights some simple steps that can be taken to help reduce pollution from solid fuels including switching to cleaner fuels and maintenance of chimneys and stoves¹³⁵.

The Environmental Protection Agency - EPA's <u>infographic</u> highlights how households can reduce air pollution through better fuel and appliance choice.

Recommendations

- The PHMEHG recommends that educational campaigns are used as tools to reduce emissions from residential solid fuel heaters, supported by clear communications to ensure public engagement and the best outcome for air quality and health ^{136, 137}.
- The PHMEHG also recommends that research be conducted on how to change the traditional Irish cultural perception that an open fireplace represents the hearth of a home and is a welcoming sign to all visitors.

Ventilation

Usually the most effective way to deal with indoor pollutants is to either remove the source or reduce emissions from it^{138, 139}. If these are not possible, the pollutant can be diluted by ventilation to reduce exposure. Inadequate ventilation is one of the most important factors leading to poor indoor air quality^{140, 141, 142}. Inadequate ventilation can increase indoor pollutant levels by not bringing in enough outdoor air to dilute emissions from indoor sources and by not carrying indoor air pollutants out of the area. Carbon dioxide (CO2) monitors can be useful to identify areas that need improved ventilation¹⁴³. Outdoor pollutants can also enter through windows or gaps in the structure and are a significant contributor to indoor air quality, particularly in deprived areas¹⁴⁴.

Buildings are ventilated by natural systems such as vents, windows and chimneys, or by mechanical systems such as extractor fans or heating, ventilation, and air conditioning (HVAC), or a combination of both^{145, 146, 147}. Opening windows and doors at home is the simplest way of improving ventilation for most people. Local bathroom or kitchen fans that exhaust outdoors remove contaminants directly from the room where the fan is located and also increase the outdoor air ventilation rate. Another natural process called infiltration allows air to enter buildings through openings, joints and cracks in walls, floors and ceilings, and around windows and doors. Unless buildings are built with special mechanical means of ventilation, those designed and constructed to minimise the amount of outdoor air that can "leak" in and out may have higher indoor pollutant levels¹⁴⁸.

There are legislative requirements¹⁴⁹ and other government^{150, 151, 152} and HPSC guidance¹⁵³ regarding the use of ventilation. Ventilation of enclosed places of work is a requirement under the Safety, Health and Welfare at Work Act (General Application) Regulations, 2007. Part F of the Building Regulations aims to improve ventilation of occupied spaces to minimise the risk of condensation, mould growth and/or other indoor air quality problems. The means of ventilation used can have a significant effect on building energy use, and therefore can affect compliance with the requirements of Part L of the Building Regulations which helps to ensure that new buildings are more airtight¹⁵⁴. Where buildings are more

airtight and make use of advanced insulation materials that help to reduce the loss of energy can result in a reduction in the circulation of fresh air¹⁵⁵.

Improvements in the standards of living have led to reduced reliance on smoky fuel products with resultant improved indoor air quality. However, it has also resulted in increased use of using indoor heating and cooling systems instead of natural ventilation system especially in offices. SBS symptom prevalence is significantly higher in buildings with simple mechanical ventilation than in buildings with natural ventilation¹⁵⁶.

Recommendation

• The PHMEHG recommends that measures are taken to ensure that the implementation of the Building Regulations does not have a negative impact on indoor air quality.

Additional actions

HEPA filters

HEPA Filters (in-home high efficiency particulate air) may reduce health effects from indoor air pollution. The effectiveness of an air cleaner depends on how well it collects pollutants from indoor air (expressed as a percentage efficiency rate) and how much air it draws through the cleaning or filtering element (expressed in cubic feet per minute). The long-term performance of any air cleaner depends on maintaining it according to the manufacturer's directions¹⁵⁷.

CO Monitors

European law requires a carbon monoxide standard to protect against immediate injury or death where carbon monoxide accumulates in the indoor environment. CO alarms can alert occupants of indoor air pace of high levels. These alarms should carry the CE mark and comply with the European Standard EN 50291 and be installed in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions¹⁵⁸.

Recommendation

• The PHMEHG recommends that every household in Ireland that uses solid or fossil fuel for heating or cooking should have a certified CO monitor inserted. Economic assistance should be available for those at risk of energy poverty to allow them to purchase CO monitors.

Integrated approach

An integrated package of measures is likely to be more effective in improving public health by reducing air pollution from solid fuel use for home heating¹⁵⁹. These include reduction of solid fuel use and emissions, education and communication but most important is that justice in transition and energy poverty are addressed. Adequate support mechanisms need to be provided for their effective implementation.

It is important that an integrated policy approach is taken to avoid perverse effects, e.g. to ensure that coal is replaced by cleaner, more efficient low carbon alternatives¹⁶⁰. The findings that over 70% of ambient air pollution in winter is due to burning of peat and wood highlights the potential negative health impact of encouraging use of biomass fuels. We need to move away from domestic burning to improving homes / renovations¹⁶¹. However, the use of solid fuels for heating is expected to persist and probably even expand within the EU in the coming decades as a result of climate policies that favour wood burning¹⁶². Replacing coal with biomass, as an alternative to fossil fuels as a policy measure to reduce greenhouse gas emissions, will in itself not necessarily have a major health improvement impact due to increases in air pollution. However, measures to reduce reliance on open fires nationally by promoting cleaner, more efficient low carbon alternatives would deliver both clean air and climate benefits, likely in a cost effective manner^{163, 164, 165, 166}. Health in All Policies (HiAP) is an approach to public policies across sectors that systematically takes into account the health implications of decisions, seeks synergies, and avoids harmful health impacts in order to improve population health and health equity¹⁶⁷. This is the approach that should be taken in Ireland to mitigate air pollution.

Recommendations

- The PHMEHG recommends the development and adoption of intersectoral policies that aim to reduce air pollution from all sources, as there is potential to generate important health co-benefits without negative effects¹⁶⁸. PHMEHG strongly recommends that a HiAP approach is taken¹⁶⁹.
- The PHMEHG recommends that the Department of Communications, Climate Action and Environment (DCCAE) national Clean Air Strategy is published as soon as possible¹⁷⁰.

Conclusions

Poor air quality is estimated to cause 1, 400 premature deaths in Ireland annually, mainly due to air pollution and production of PM and other pollutants from solid fuel burning. Irish research has found that in winter, the main cause of air pollution and exceedances of air standards is burning peat and wood especially in small towns and villages. Cardiovascular, respiratory conditions and stroke are the main health effects. Vulnerable populations include children, pregnant women, older people, and people with underlying chronic health conditions, low-income and minority and ethnic groups.

The CAFE Directive European Union (EU) air quality standards which are legally binding are currently being reviewed and may be brought in line with the updated stricter WHO guidelines. Whilst measurements of concentrations of PM_{2.5} and PAHs are currently below the CAFE Directive air quality standards, any revision may mean that Ireland consistently fails to meet the new legally binding levels. The ban on smoky fuel has been extended nationwide since January 2022 which should improve air quality. However, it does not cover the burning of turf which is used by many households in the midlands and northwest.

Strategies to improve indoor air quality include:

- 1. Source Control, transitioning to cleaner fuels and policies to reduce the emissions from solid fuels and stoves
- 2. Justice in transition to enable the above, in terms of:
 - i. Implementing an energy poverty strategy ensuring that cleaner fuels are affordable for all households
 - ii. Addressing loss of income for turf-harvesters
- 3. Increasing energy efficiencies, with building regulations for new builds and increasing retrofitting of older housing stock
- 4. Implementing an energy poverty strategy ensuring that cleaner fuels are affordable for all households
- 5. Improved ventilation through building regulations
- 6. Improving air quality standards and extended air monitoring networks
- 7. Communication and raising awareness amongst households
- 8. An integrated, interdisciplinary HiAP approach

PHMEHG recommendations

- Implementation of significant and sustainable incentives for all using solid fuels to switch to less polluting production alternatives / techniques¹⁷¹.
- Less polluting fuels should be made more affordable and easily available for households that suffer from fuel poverty.
- Additional measures should put in place to assist households that rely on turf as a heating fuel. All stakeholders should work together to consider how to encourage reduced use of turf without resulting in negative financial impact on households affected.
- The Irish Government's Just Transition programme for the Midlands initiative if successful should be extended to other parts of the country where turf is harvested.
- Implementation of the Energy Efficiency and Energy Poverty a Strategy to Combat Energy Poverty 2016-2019 which sets out the national strategy to address energy poverty.
- The Eco Design Directive and Energy Labelling Directive be considered as a means to improve air quality and reduce the emissions from solid fuel appliances for sale on the market in Ireland.
- The resources required to enforce the requirements under the above directives be put in place.
- The revised National Home Energy Upgrade Scheme be implemented as quickly as possible.
- Timely updating and strengthening of current Irish air quality standards. And that the requirement for regular updating should be embedded in legislation¹⁷².
- Standards should be set according to health benefits, not associated costs.
- The extension of ambient air quality network to include more residential settings, to allow for more granular identification of 'hot spots' of air pollution.
- Educational campaigns be used as tools to raise awareness of the impacts of poor air quality to reduce emissions from domestic use of solid fuels, supported by clear

communications to ensure public engagement and the best outcome for air quality and health.

- Research be conducted on how to change the Irish cultural perception that an open fireplace represents the hearth of a home and is a welcoming sign.
- Measures should be taken to ensure that the implementation of the Building Regulations does not have a negative impact on indoor air quality.
- Every household in Ireland that uses solid or fossil fuel for heating or cooking should have a certified CO monitor inserted. Economic assistance should be available for those at risk of energy poverty to allow them to purchase CO monitors.
- HiAP approach is taken for the development and adoption of intersectoral policies that aim to reduce air pollution from all sources. Consultants in Public Health Medicine (specialising in/working in health protection) are key stakeholders and should be involved in the development of policies from public health perspective.
- The Department of Communications, Climate Action and Environment (DCCAE) national Clean Air Strategy is published as soon as possible¹⁷³.
- Awareness raising be conducted on reducing use of products containing VOCs, and on the importance of increasing ventilation or outdoor use of these products.

Bibliography

¹ <u>https://www.eea.europa.eu/themes/air/country-fact-sheets/2021-country-fact-sheets/ireland</u>

² Ovadnevaite J, Lin C, Rinaldi M, Ceburnis D, Buckley P, Coleman L, Facchini MC, Wenger J and O'Dowd C. Air pollution sources in Ireland. EPA Research Report 2021. ISBN: 978-1-80009-007-1. https://www.epa.ie/publications/research/air/Research Report 385.pdf

³ <u>https://www.gov.ie/en/press-release/5d12d-new-standards-for-domestic-solid-fuels-for-next-year-announced-on-international-clean-air-day/</u>

⁴ World Health Organization. (2021). WHO global air quality guidelines: particulate matter (PM2.5 and PM10), ozone, nitrogen dioxide, sulfur dioxide and carbon monoxide: executive summary. World Health Organization. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/345334. Licens.: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO

⁵ https://www.epa.gov/indoor-air-quality-iag/introduction-indoor-air-quality accessed 28/09/2021

⁶ Samet JM. Indoor Air Pollution: A Public Health Perspective. Indoor Air Quality 1993, 3: 219-226 https://www.aivc.org/sites/default/files/airbase 7531.pdf

⁷ WHO Guidelines for Indoor Air Quality: Dampness and Mould. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2009. Available at: <u>https://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/environment-and-health/air-guality/policy/who-guidelines-for-indoor-air-guality/biological-indoor-air-pollutants-dampness-and-mould-2009</u>

⁸ World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe. (2010). WHO guidelines for indoor air quality: selected pollutants. World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/260127

 ⁹ WHO Indoor Air Quality Guidelines: Household Fuel Combustion. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014. PMID: 25577935. Available at <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25577935/</u>
 ¹⁰ NICE: National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. Indoor air quality at home. Public Health England. 2020. Available at <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng149</u>

¹¹ Cincinelli A, Martellini T. Indoor air quality and health. Int J Environ Res Pulic Health. 2017; 14: 1286 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5707925/

¹² Spengler JD and Sexton K. Indoor Air Pollution: A Public Health Perspective. Science. 1983; 221: 4605. doi:10.1126/science.6857273

https://www.science.org/doi/abs/10.1126/science.6857273

¹³ NICE: National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. Indoor air quality at home. Public Health England. 2020. Available at <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng149</u>

¹⁴ European Commission Scientific Committee on Health and Environmental Risks (<u>SCHER</u>) <u>https://ec.europa.eu/health/scientific_committees/opinions_layman/en/indoor-air-</u>

pollution/index.htm#1

¹⁵ Spengler JD and Sexton K. Indoor Air Pollution: A Public Health Perspective. Science. 1983; 221: 4605. doi:10.1126/science.6857273

https://www.science.org/doi/abs/10.1126/science.6857273

¹⁶ World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe. (2010). WHO guidelines for indoor air quality: selected pollutants. World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/260127

¹⁷ Cincinelli A, Martellini T. Indoor air quality and health. Int J Environ Res Pulic Health. 2017; 14: 1286 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5707925/

¹⁸ European Commission Scientific Committee on Health and Environmental Risks (<u>SCHER</u>) <u>https://ec.europa.eu/health/scientific committees/opinions layman/en/indoor-air-pollution/index.htm#1</u>

¹⁹ <u>https://www.epa.gov/indoor-air-quality-iaq/introduction-indoor-air-quality accessed 28/09/2021</u>

²⁰ Spengler JD and Sexton K. Indoor Air Pollution: A Public Health Perspective. Science. 1983; 221: 4605. doi:10.1126/science.6857273

https://www.science.org/doi/abs/10.1126/science.6857273

²¹ <u>https://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/environment-and-health/air-quality/policy/who-guidelines-for-indoor-air-quality</u>

²² European Commission Scientific Committee on Health and Environmental Risks (<u>SCHER</u>) <u>https://ec.europa.eu/health/scientific committees/opinions layman/en/indoor-air-pollution/index.htm#1</u> ²³ Spengler JD and Sexton K. Indoor Air Pollution: A Public Health Perspective. Science. 1983; 221: 4605. doi:10.1126/science.6857273

https://www.science.org/doi/abs/10.1126/science.6857273

²⁴ European Commission Scientific Committee on Health and Environmental Risks (<u>SCHER</u>) <u>https://ec.europa.eu/health/scientific_committees/opinions_layman/en/indoor-air-pollution/index.htm#1</u>

²⁵ Saini, J., Dutta, M. & Marques, G. A comprehensive review on indoor air quality monitoring systems for enhanced public health. *Sustain Environ Res* **30**, 6 (2020). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s42834-020-</u> <u>0047-y</u>

https://sustainenvironres.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s42834-020-0047-y

²⁶ Samet JM. Indoor Air Pollution: A Public Health Perspective. Indoor Air Quality 1993 , 3: 219-226 <u>https://www.aivc.org/sites/default/files/airbase_7531.pdf</u>

²⁷ WHO Guidelines for Indoor Air Quality: Dampness and Mould. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2009. Available at: <u>https://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/environment-and-health/air-guality/policy/who-guidelines-for-indoor-air-quality/biological-indoor-air-pollutants-dampness-and-mould-2009</u>

²⁸ WHO Guidelines for Indoor Air Quality: Selected Pollutants. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2010. ISBN-13: 978-92-890-0213-4. Copyright © 2010, World Health Organization. Available at <u>https://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/environment-and-health/air-quality/policy/who-guidelines-for-indoor-air-quality/chemical-indoor-air-pollutants-selected-pollutants-2010</u>

 ²⁹ WHO Indoor Air Quality Guidelines: Household Fuel Combustion. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014. PMID: 25577935. Available at <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25577935/</u>
 ³⁰ Royal College of Physicians. *Every breath we take: the lifelong impact of air pollution*. Report of a working party. London: RCP, 2016. Available at <u>https://www.rcplondon.ac.uk/file/every-breath-we-take-lifelong-impact-air-pollution-full-report</u>

³¹ NICE: National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. Indoor air quality at home. Public Health England. 2020. Available at <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng149</u>

³² <u>https://www.eea.europa.eu/themes/air/country-fact-sheets/2021-country-fact-sheets/ireland</u>

³³ Quintyne KI, Sheridan A, Kenny P, O'Dwyer M. Air Quality and Its Association with Cardiovascular and Respiratory Hospital Admissions in Ireland. Ir Med J. 2020 Jun 11;113(6):92

³⁴ A.L. Moreno-Ríos, L P.Tejeda-Benítez and C F.Bustillo-Lecomptec. Sources, characteristics, toxicity, and control of ultrafine particles: an overview. Geosci. Front.(2022). Available at

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1674987121000116

 ³⁵ WHO Indoor Air Quality Guidelines: Household Fuel Combustion. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014. PMID: 25577935. Available at <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25577935/</u>
 ³⁶ Chafe , Brauer M, Héroux ME, Klimont Z, Lanki T, Salonen RO and Smith, KR. Residential heating with wood and coal: health impacts and policy options in Europe and North America World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe. 2015

https://www.julkari.fi/handle/10024/129716

³⁷ https://www.epa.gov/indoor-air-quality-iaq/introduction-indoor-air-quality accessed 28/09/2021
 ³⁸ Royal College of Physicians. *Every breath we take: the lifelong impact of air pollution*. Report of a working party. London: RCP, 2016. Available at https://www.rcplondon.ac.uk/file/every-breath-we-take-lifelong-impact-air-pollution-full-report

³⁹ NICE: National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. Indoor air quality at home. Public Health England. 2020. Available at <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng149</u>

⁴⁰ A.L. Moreno-Ríos, L P.Tejeda-Benítez and C F.Bustillo-Lecomptec. Sources, characteristics, toxicity, and control of ultrafine particles: an overview. Geosci. Front. (2022). Available at

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1674987121000116

⁴¹ World Health Organization. (2021). WHO global air quality guidelines: particulate matter (PM2.5 and PM10), ozone, nitrogen dioxide, sulfur dioxide and carbon monoxide: executive summary. World Health Organization. <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/345334</u>. License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO
 ⁴² Thurston, GD, Kipen, H, Annesi-Maesano, I, Balmes, J, Brook, RD, Cromar, K, et al. A Joint ERS/ATS Policy Statement: what Constitutes an Adverse Health Effect of Air Pollution? an Analytical Framework. *Eur Respir J* (2017) 49(1):1600419. doi:10.1183/13993003.00419-2016

⁴³ Brunekreef, B, Strak, M, Chen, J, Andersen, Z, and Bauwelinck, M. Mortality and Morbidity Effects of Long-Term Exposure to Low-Level PM2.5, Black Carbon, NO2 and O3: An Analysis of European Cohorts

- ELAPSE Project: Effects of Low-Level Air Pollution. In: *Health Effects Institute (HEI)*. Boston, United States: Research Report (2021). p. 208.

⁴⁴ World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe. (2010). WHO guidelines for indoor air quality: selected pollutants. World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/260127

⁴⁵ Saini, J., Dutta, M. & Marques, G. A comprehensive review on indoor air quality monitoring systems for enhanced public health. *Sustain Environ Res* **30**, 6 (2020). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s42834-020-</u> <u>0047-y</u>

https://sustainenvironres.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s42834-020-0047-y

⁴⁶ World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe. (2010). WHO guidelines for indoor air quality: selected pollutants. World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/260127

⁴⁷ Crowley D, Scallan E, Herbert J, Staines A, Herity B, Tracey J. Carbon monoxide poisoning in the Republic of Ireland. Ir Med J. 2003 Mar;96(3):83-6. PMID: 12722785. Available at https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/12722785/

⁴⁸ World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe. (2010). WHO guidelines for indoor air quality: selected pollutants. World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe. <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/260127</u>

⁴⁹ World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe. (2010). WHO guidelines for indoor air quality: selected pollutants. World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe. <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/260127</u>

⁵⁰ World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe. (2010). WHO guidelines for indoor air quality: selected pollutants. World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe. <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/260127</u>

⁵¹ World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe. (2010). WHO guidelines for indoor air quality: selected pollutants. World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe. <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/260127</u>

⁵² Environmental Protection Agency **(EPA)** 2021. Air Quality in Ireland 2020. Available URL:

https://www.epa.ie/publications/monitoring--assessment/air/air-quality-in-ireland-2020.php

⁵³ <u>https://www.epa.gov/indoor-air-quality-iaq/volatile-organic-compounds-impact-indoor-air-quality</u>

⁵⁴ World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe. (2010). WHO guidelines for indoor air quality: selected pollutants. World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/260127

⁵⁵ World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe. (2010). WHO guidelines for indoor air quality: selected pollutants. World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe. <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/260127</u>

⁵⁶ World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe. (2010). WHO guidelines for indoor air quality: selected pollutants. World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe. <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/260127</u>

⁵⁷ https://www.epa.gov/indoor-air-quality-iaq/volatile-organic-compounds-impact-indoor-air-quality
⁵⁸ WHO guidelines on indoor air quality, 2009. Biological indoor air pollutants: dampness and mould.
Geneva: World Health Organization. https://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/environment-and-health/air-quality/policy/who-guidelines-for-indoor-air-quality/biological-indoor-air-pollutants-dampness-and-mould-2009

⁵⁹ NICE: National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. Indoor air quality at home. Public Health England. 2020. Available at <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng149</u>

⁶⁰ Samet JM. Indoor Air Pollution: A Public Health Perspective. Indoor Air Quality 1993, 3: 219-226 <u>https://www.aivc.org/sites/default/files/airbase_7531.pdf</u>

⁶¹ Cincinelli A, Martellini T. Indoor air quality and health. Int J Environ Res Pulic Health. 2017; 14: 1286 <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5707925/</u>

⁶² Saini, J., Dutta, M. & Marques, G. A comprehensive review on indoor air quality monitoring systems for enhanced public health. *Sustain Environ Res* **30**, 6 (2020). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s42834-020-0047-γ</u>

https://sustainenvironres.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s42834-020-0047-y

⁶³ Wyon DP. The effects of indoor air quality on performance and productivity. Indoor air. 2004 ;14
 Suppl 7:92-101. DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-0668.2004.00278.x. PMID: 15330777.
 https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1600-0668.2004.00278.x

⁶⁴ https://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/environment-and-health/air-quality/policy/who-guidelines-for-indoor-air-quality

⁶⁵ European Commission Scientific Committee on Health and Environmental Risks (<u>SCHER</u>) <u>https://ec.europa.eu/health/scientific_committees/opinions_layman/en/indoor-air-pollution/index.htm#1</u>

⁶⁶ Cincinelli A, Martellini T. Indoor air quality and health. Int J Environ Res Pulic Health. 2017; 14: 1286 <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5707925/</u>

⁶⁷ https://www.epa.gov/indoor-air-quality-iaq/introduction-indoor-air-quality accessed 28/09/2021
 ⁶⁸ Royal College of Physicians. *Every breath we take: the lifelong impact of air pollution*. Report of a working party. London: RCP, 2016. Available at https://www.rcplondon.ac.uk/file/every-breath-we-take-lifelong-impact-air-pollution-full-report

⁶⁹ NICE: National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. Indoor air quality at home. Public Health England. 2020. Available at <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng149</u>

⁷⁰ <u>https://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/environment-and-health/air-quality/policy/who-guidelines-for-indoor-air-quality</u>

⁷¹ WHO guidelines on indoor air quality, 2009. Biological indoor air pollutants: dampness and mould. Geneva: World Health Organization. <u>https://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/environment-and-health/air-quality/policy/who-guidelines-for-indoor-air-quality/biological-indoor-air-pollutants-dampness-and-mould-2009</u>

⁷² World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe. (2010). WHO guidelines for indoor air quality: selected pollutants. World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/260127

⁷³ WHO Guidelines for indoor air quality: Household fuel combustion, 2014.

https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241548885_ISBN: 9789241548885

⁷⁴ World Health Organization. (2021). WHO global air quality guidelines: particulate matter (PM2.5 and PM10), ozone, nitrogen dioxide, sulfur dioxide and carbon monoxide: executive summary. World Health Organization. <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/345334</u>. Licens.: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO
 ⁷⁵ WHO Guidelines for indoor air quality: Household fuel combustion, 2014.

https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241548885 ISBN: 9789241548885

⁷⁶ World Health Organization. (2021). WHO global air quality guidelines: particulate matter (PM2.5 and PM10), ozone, nitrogen dioxide, sulfur dioxide and carbon monoxide: executive summary. World Health Organization. <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/345334</u>. Licens.: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO

⁷⁷ World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe. (2010). WHO guidelines for indoor air quality: selected pollutants. World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/260127

⁷⁸ Public Health Medicine Environment and Health Group (PHMEHG) Submission: Consultation on the Development of a New Solid Fuel Regulation for Ireland, 2021

https://www.hse.ie/eng/services/list/5/publichealth/publichealthdepts/env/air-quality-solid-fuel.pdf ⁷⁹ Chafe , Brauer M, Héroux ME, Klimont Z, Lanki T, Salonen RO and Smith, KR. Residential heating with wood and coal: health impacts and policy options in Europe and North America World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe. 2015

https://www.julkari.fi/handle/10024/129716

⁸⁰ WHO Indoor Air Quality Guidelines: Household Fuel Combustion. Geneva: World Health
 Organization; 2014. PMID: 25577935. Available at <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25577935/</u>
 ⁸¹ Household Environmental Behaviours - Energy Use

https://www.cso.ie/en/releasesandpublications/er/hebeu/householdenvironmentalbehavioursenergyusequarter32021/

⁸² Abbott J, Clancy L, Goodman P, McFarlane G, Regan B, Stewart R, Vedrenne M, Conlan B.
 Residential Solid Fuel and Air Pollution Study North South Ministerial Council (NSMC).
 Report jointly commissioned by Department of Environment for Northern Ireland and the
 Department of Environment, Community & Local Government, Ireland. Published by Ricardo Energy &
 Environment. ED 59284- Final_report_Dec15 | Issue Number 3 | Date 15/03/2016
 https://www.daera-ni.gov.uk/sites/default/files/publications/daera/residential-fuel-air-pollution-study.PDF

⁸³ SEAI: Sustainable Energy Authority Ireland. Energy in the Residential Sector. 2018 Report <u>https://www.seai.ie/data-and-insights/seai-statistics/key-publications/energy-in-residential-sector/</u>

⁸⁴ Abbott J, Clancy L, Goodman P, McFarlane G, Regan B, Stewart R, Vedrenne M, Conlan B.
 Residential Solid Fuel and Air Pollution Study North South Ministerial Council (NSMC).
 Report jointly commissioned by Department of Environment for Northern Ireland and the
 Department of Environment, Community & Local Government, Ireland. Published by Ricardo Energy &
 Environment. ED 59284- Final_report_Dec15 | Issue Number 3 | Date 15/03/2016
 https://www.daera-ni.gov.uk/sites/default/files/publications/daera/residential-fuel-air-pollution-study.PDF

⁸⁵ Coggins MA, Semple S, Hurley F, Shafrir A, Galea KS, Cowie H, Sanchez-Jimenez A3, Garden C, Whelan P, Ayres JG. Indoor Air Pollution and Health (IAPAH) (2008-EH-MS-8-S3) STRIVE Report. EPA 2013 <u>https://www.epa.ie/publications/research/environment--health/Indoor-Air-Pollution-and-Health.pdf</u>

⁸⁶ WHO Guidelines for indoor air quality: Household fuel combustion, 2014. https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241548885 ISBN: 9789241548885

⁸⁷ Abbott J, Clancy L, Goodman P, McFarlane G, Regan B, Stewart R, Vedrenne M, Conlan B.

Residential Solid Fuel and Air Pollution Study North South Ministerial Council (NSMC). Report jointly commissioned by Department of Environment for Northern Ireland and the Department of Environment, Community & Local Government, Ireland. Published by Ricardo Energy & Environment. ED 59284- Final_report_Dec15 | Issue Number 3 | Date 15/03/2016 <u>https://www.daera-ni.gov.uk/sites/default/files/publications/daera/residential-fuel-air-pollution-</u> study.PDF

⁸⁸ Ovadnevaite J, Lin C, Rinaldi M, Ceburnis D, Buckley P, Coleman L, Facchini MC, Wenger J and O'Dowd C. Air pollution sources in Ireland. EPA Research Report 2021. ISBN: 978-1-80009-007-1. <u>https://www.epa.ie/publications/research/air/Research Report 385.pdf</u>

⁸⁹ Ovadnevaite J, Lin C, Rinaldi M, Ceburnis D, Buckley P, Coleman L, Facchini MC, Wenger J and O'Dowd C. Air pollution sources in Ireland. EPA Research Report 2021. ISBN: 978-1-80009-007-1. https://www.epa.ie/publications/research/air/Research Report 385.pdf

⁹⁰ Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) 2021. Air Quality in Ireland 2020. Available URL:
 <u>https://www.epa.ie/publications/monitoring--assessment/air/air-quality-in-ireland-2020.php</u>
 ⁹¹ Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) 2021. Air Quality in Ireland 2020. Available URL:

https://www.epa.ie/publications/monitoring--assessment/air/air-quality-in-ireland-2020.php ⁹² Public Health Medicine Environment and Health Group (PHMEHG) Submission: Consultation on the

Development of a New Solid Fuel Regulation for Ireland, 2021

https://www.hse.ie/eng/services/list/5/publichealth/publichealthdepts/env/air-quality-solid-fuel.pdf ⁹³ https://www.gov.ie/en/press-release/5d12d-new-standards-for-domestic-solid-fuels-for-next-yearannounced-on-international-clean-air-day/

⁹⁴ https://www.epa.gov/indoor-air-quality-iaq/improving-indoor-air-quality

⁹⁵ NICE: National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. Indoor air quality at home. Public Health England. 2020. Available at <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng149</u>

⁹⁶ Chafe, Brauer M, Héroux ME, Klimont Z, Lanki T, Salonen RO and Smith, KR. Residential heating with wood and coal: health impacts and policy options in Europe and North America World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe. 2015.

https://www.julkari.fi/handle/10024/129716

⁹⁷ Dockery DW, Rich DQ, Goodman PG, Clancy L, Ohman-Strickland P, George P, Kotlov T. 2013. Effect of Air Pollution Control on Mortality and Hospital Admissions in Ireland. Research Report 176. Health Effects Institute, Boston, MA. <u>https://www.healtheffects.org/publication/effect-air-pollution-control-mortality-and-hospital-admissions-ireland</u>

⁹⁸ Abbott J, Clancy L, Goodman P, McFarlane G, Regan B, Stewart R, Vedrenne M, Conlan B. Residential Solid Fuel and Air Pollution Study North South Ministerial Council (NSMC). Report jointly commissioned by Department of Environment for Northern Ireland and the Department of Environment, Community & Local Government, Ireland. Published by Ricardo Energy & Environment. ED 59284- Final_report_Dec15 | Issue Number 3 | Date 15/03/2016 <u>https://www.daera-ni.gov.uk/sites/default/files/publications/daera/residential-fuel-air-pollution-study.PDF</u>

⁹⁹ Chafe , Brauer M, Héroux ME, Klimont Z, Lanki T, Salonen RO and Smith, KR. Residential heating with wood and coal: health impacts and policy options in Europe and North America

World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe. 2015. https://www.julkari.fi/handle/10024/129716

¹⁰⁰ Abbott J, Clancy L, Goodman P, McFarlane G, Regan B, Stewart R, Vedrenne M, Conlan B. Residential Solid Fuel and Air Pollution Study North South Ministerial Council (NSMC). Report jointly commissioned by Department of Environment for Northern Ireland and the Department of Environment, Community & Local Government, Ireland. Published by Ricardo Energy & Environment. ED 59284- Final_report_Dec15 | Issue Number 3 | Date 15/03/2016 https://www.daera-ni.gov.uk/sites/default/files/publications/daera/residential-fuel-air-pollutionstudy.PDF

¹⁰¹ European Commission Scientific Committee on Health and Environmental Risks (SCHER) " Opinion on risk assessment on indoor air quality" May 2007

https://ec.europa.eu/health/scientific_committees/opinions_layman/en/indoor-air-pollution/aboutindoor-air-pollution.htm#24

¹⁰² Chafe , Brauer M, Héroux ME, Klimont Z, Lanki T, Salonen RO and Smith, KR. Residential heating with wood and coal: health impacts and policy options in Europe and North America World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe. 2015.

https://www.julkari.fi/handle/10024/129716

¹⁰³ Chafe , Brauer M, Héroux ME, Klimont Z, Lanki T, Salonen RO and Smith, KR. Residential heating with wood and coal: health impacts and policy options in Europe and North America World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe. 2015.

https://www.julkari.fi/handle/10024/129716

¹⁰⁴ Public Health Medicine Environment and Health Group (PHMEHG) Submission: EU Consultation on the Air Quality Revision of EU Rules, 2021

¹⁰⁵ Abbott J, Clancy L, Goodman P, McFarlane G, Regan B, Stewart R, Vedrenne M, Conlan B. Residential Solid Fuel and Air Pollution Study North South Ministerial Council (NSMC).

Report jointly commissioned by Department of Environment for Northern Ireland and the Department of Environment, Community & Local Government, Ireland. Published by Ricardo Energy & Environment. ED 59284- Final_report_Dec15 | Issue Number 3 | Date 15/03/2016

https://www.daera-ni.gov.uk/sites/default/files/publications/daera/residential-fuel-air-pollutionstudy.PDF

¹⁰⁶ Samet JM. Indoor Air Pollution: A Public Health Perspective. Indoor Air Quality 1993 , 3: 219-226 <u>https://www.aivc.org/sites/default/files/airbase_7531.pdf</u>

¹⁰⁷ <u>https://www.epa.gov/indoor-air-quality-iaq/improving-indoor-air-quality</u>

¹⁰⁸ Environmental Protection Agency **(EPA)** 2021. Air Quality in Ireland 2020. Available URL: <u>https://www.epa.ie/publications/monitoring--assessment/air/air-quality-in-ireland-2020.php</u>

¹⁰⁹ Ovadnevaite J, Lin C, Rinaldi M, Ceburnis D, Buckley P, Coleman L, Facchini MC, Wenger J and O'Dowd C. Air pollution sources in Ireland. EPA Research Report 2021. ISBN: 978-1-80009-007-1. https://www.epa.ie/publications/research/air/Research Report 385.pdf

¹¹⁰ Chafe , Brauer M, Héroux ME, Klimont Z, Lanki T, Salonen RO and Smith, KR. Residential heating with wood and coal: health impacts and policy options in Europe and North America World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe. 2015

https://www.julkari.fi/handle/10024/129716

¹¹¹ Clean Air Strategy <u>https://www.gov.ie/en/consultation/0b94e-national-clean-air-strategy-consultation/</u>

¹¹² Dockery DW, Rich DQ, Goodman PG, Clancy L, Ohman-Strickland P, George P, Kotlov T. 2013. Effect of Air Pollution Control on Mortality and Hospital Admissions in Ireland. Research Report 176. Health Effects Institute, Boston, MA. <u>https://www.healtheffects.org/publication/effect-air-pollution-control-mortality-and-hospital-admissions-ireland</u>

¹¹³ J. Burns, H. Boogaard, S. Polus, *et al.* Interventions to reduce ambient air pollution and their effects on health: an abridged Cochrane systematic review. Environ. Int. Feb, 135 (2020),

p. 105400, <u>10.1016/j.envint.2019.105400</u>

¹¹⁴ <u>https://www.gov.ie/en/press-release/5d12d-new-standards-for-domestic-solid-fuels-for-next-year-announced-on-international-clean-air-day/</u>

¹¹⁵ Public Health Medicine Environment and Health Group (PHMEHG) Submission: Consultation on the Development of a New Solid Fuel Regulation for Ireland, 2021

https://www.hse.ie/eng/services/list/5/publichealth/publichealthdepts/env/air-quality-solid-fuel.pdf

¹¹⁶ <u>https://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/environment-and-health/health-impact-assessment/environment-and-health-economics/country-profiles-on-environmental-health-inequality.-a-supplement-to-environmental-health-inequalities-in-europe.-second-assessment-report-2019</u>

¹¹⁷ WHO Guidelines for indoor air quality: Household fuel combustion, 2014. | Guideline. ISBN: 9789241548885 <u>https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241548885</u>

¹¹⁸ Abbott J, Clancy L, Goodman P, McFarlane G, Regan B, Stewart R, Vedrenne M, Conlan B. Residential Solid Fuel and Air Pollution Study North South Ministerial Council (NSMC). Report jointly commissioned by Department of Environment for Northern Ireland and the Department of Environment, Community & Local Government, Ireland. Published by Ricardo Energy & Environment. ED 59284- Final_report_Dec15 | Issue Number 3 | Date 15/03/2016 <u>https://www.daera-ni.gov.uk/sites/default/files/publications/daera/residential-fuel-air-pollution-study.PDF</u>

¹¹⁹ Abbott J, Clancy L, Goodman P, McFarlane G, Regan B, Stewart R, Vedrenne M, Conlan B. Residential Solid Fuel and Air Pollution Study North South Ministerial Council (NSMC). Report jointly commissioned by Department of Environment for Northern Ireland and the Department of Environment, Community & Local Government, Ireland. Published by Ricardo Energy & Environment. ED 59284- Final_report_Dec15 | Issue Number 3 | Date 15/03/2016 <u>https://www.daera-ni.gov.uk/sites/default/files/publications/daera/residential-fuel-air-pollution-study.PDF</u>

¹²⁰ Royal College of Physicians. *Every breath we take: the lifelong impact of air pollution*. Report of a working party. London: RCP, 2016. Available at <u>https://www.rcplondon.ac.uk/file/every-breath-we-take-lifelong-impact-air-pollution-full-report</u>

¹²¹ Abbott J, Clancy L, Goodman P, McFarlane G, Regan B, Stewart R, Vedrenne M, Conlan B. Residential Solid Fuel and Air Pollution Study North South Ministerial Council (NSMC). Report jointly commissioned by Department of Environment for Northern Ireland and the Department of Environment, Community & Local Government, Ireland. Published by Ricardo Energy & Environment. ED 59284- Final_report_Dec15 | Issue Number 3 | Date 15/03/2016 https://www.daera-ni.gov.uk/sites/default/files/publications/daera/residential-fuel-air-pollution-

study.PDF

¹²² WHO Guidelines for indoor air quality: Household fuel combustion, 2014. | Guideline. ISBN: 9789241548885 <u>https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241548885</u>

¹²³ Public Health Medicine Environment and Health Group (PHMEHG) Submission: Consultation on the Development of a New Solid Fuel Regulation for Ireland, 2021

https://www.hse.ie/eng/services/list/5/publichealth/publichealthdepts/env/air-quality-solid-fuel.pdf ¹²⁴ Arora, A., Schroeder, H. How to avoid unjust energy transitions: insights from the Ruhr

region. *Energ Sustain Soc* **12**, 19 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13705-022-00345-5 ¹²⁵ Chafe , Brauer M, Héroux ME, Klimont Z, Lanki T, Salonen RO and Smith, KR. Residential heating with wood and coal: health impacts and policy options in Europe and North America

With wood and coal: nealth impacts and policy options in Europe and NC

World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe. 2015.

https://www.julkari.fi/handle/10024/129716

¹²⁶ <u>https://www.epa.gov/indoor-air-quality-iaq/improving-indoor-air-quality</u>

¹²⁷ Royal College of Physicians. *Every breath we take: the lifelong impact of air pollution*. Report of a working party. London: RCP, 2016. Available at <u>https://www.rcplondon.ac.uk/file/every-breath-we-take-lifelong-impact-air-pollution-full-report</u>

¹²⁸ Abbott J, Clancy L, Goodman P, McFarlane G, Regan B, Stewart R, Vedrenne M, Conlan B. Residential Solid Fuel and Air Pollution Study North South Ministerial Council (NSMC). Report jointly commissioned by Department of Environment for Northern Ireland and the Department of Environment, Community & Local Government, Ireland. Published by Ricardo Energy & Environment. ED 59284- Final_report_Dec15 | Issue Number 3 | Date 15/03/2016 <u>https://www.daera-ni.gov.uk/sites/default/files/publications/daera/residential-fuel-air-pollution-study.PDF</u>

¹²⁹ <u>https://www.gov.ie/en/publication/39fe4-energy-performance-of-buildings/</u>

¹³⁰ <u>https://www.gov.ie/en/publication/d82ea-technical-guidance-document-l-conservation-of-fuel-and-energy-dwellings/</u>

¹³¹ SEAI: Sustainable Energy Authority Ireland. Energy in the Residential Sector. 2018 Report <u>https://www.seai.ie/data-and-insights/seai-statistics/key-publications/energy-in-residential-sector/</u> ¹³² <u>https://www.gov.ie/en/publication/1d2af-building-regulations/</u>

¹³³ <u>https://www.housing.old.gov.ie/housing/building-standards/energy-performance-buildings/energy-efficiency-renovation</u>

¹³⁴ Abbott J, Clancy L, Goodman P, McFarlane G, Regan B, Stewart R, Vedrenne M, Conlan B.
 Residential Solid Fuel and Air Pollution Study North South Ministerial Council (NSMC).
 Report jointly commissioned by Department of Environment for Northern Ireland and the
 Department of Environment, Community & Local Government, Ireland. Published by Ricardo Energy &
 Environment. ED 59284- Final_report_Dec15 | Issue Number 3 | Date 15/03/2016
 https://www.daera.ni.gov.uk/sites/default/files/nublications/daera/residential-fuel-air-pollutions

https://www.daera-ni.gov.uk/sites/default/files/publications/daera/residential-fuel-air-pollutionstudy.PDF

¹³⁵ <u>https://www.gov.ie/en/publication/e3da2-air-quality/</u>

¹³⁶ Chafe , Brauer M, Héroux ME, Klimont Z, Lanki T, Salonen RO and Smith, KR. Residential heating with wood and coal: health impacts and policy options in Europe and North America World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe. 2015.

https://www.julkari.fi/handle/10024/129716

¹³⁷ Environmental Protection Agency **(EPA)** 2021. Air Quality in Ireland 2020. Available URL: <u>https://www.epa.ie/publications/monitoring--assessment/air/air-quality-in-ireland-2020.php</u>

¹³⁸ NICE: National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. Indoor air quality at home. Public Health England. 2020. Available at <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng149</u>

¹³⁹ <u>https://www.epa.gov/indoor-air-quality-iaq/improving-indoor-air-quality</u>

¹⁴⁰ European Commission Scientific Committee on Health and Environmental Risks (SCHER) " Opinion on risk assessment on indoor air quality" May 2007

https://ec.europa.eu/health/scientific_committees/opinions_layman/en/indoor-air-pollution/aboutindoor-air-pollution.htm#24

¹⁴¹ Cincinelli A, Martellini T. Indoor air quality and health. Int J Environ Res Pulic Health. 2017; 14: 1286 <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5707925/</u>

¹⁴² <u>https://www.epa.gov/indoor-air-quality-iaq/introduction-indoor-air-quality accessed 28/09/2021</u>

¹⁴³ <u>https://www.hse.gov.uk/coronavirus/equipment-and-machinery/air-conditioning-and-</u>ventilation/index.htm

¹⁴⁴ NICE: National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. Indoor air quality at home. Public Health England. 2020. Available at <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng149</u>

¹⁴⁵ <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-ventilation-of-indoor-spaces-to-stop-the-</u> spread-of-coronavirus/ventilation-of-indoor-spaces-to-stop-the-spread-of-coronavirus-covid-19

¹⁴⁶ The UK Health and Safety Executive provides advice on <u>working safely</u> and <u>ventilation and air</u> <u>conditioning</u>

¹⁴⁷ <u>https://www.hse.gov.uk/coronavirus/equipment-and-machinery/air-conditioning-and-ventilation/index.htm</u>

¹⁴⁸ <u>https://www.epa.gov/indoor-air-quality-iaq/introduction-indoor-air-quality accessed 28/09/2021</u>
 ¹⁴⁹ Safety, Health and Welfare at Work Act (General Application) Regulations, 2007. Available at https://www.hsa.ie/eng/Legislation/Regulations_and_Orders/General_Application_Regulations_2007

¹⁵⁰ Department of Enterprise, Trade and Employment. Work Safely Protocol COVID-19 National Protocol for Employers and Workers. 18.11.2021

https://enterprise.gov.ie/en/Publications/Publication-files/Work-Safely-Protocol.pdf ¹⁵¹ DOE. Practical Steps for the Deployment of Good Ventilation Practices in Schools V3

¹⁵² Expert Group on the Role of Ventilation in Reducing Transmission of COVID-19: Second Report - 2 March 2021 Available at <u>https://www.gov.ie/en/publication/aa43c-expert-group-on-the-role-of-</u> ventilation-in-reducing-transmission-of-covid-19/#reports

¹⁵³ HPSC. Guidance on non-healthcare building ventilation during COVID-19 V3.0 18/11/2021. Available at <u>https://www.hpsc.ie/a-</u>

z/respiratory/coronavirus/novelcoronavirus/guidance/infectionpreventionandcontrolguidance/buildingsandfacilitiesguidance/

¹⁵⁴ <u>https://www.gov.ie/en/publication/8b6cd-new-energy-efficiency-and-ventilation-standards-for-major-renovations-to-buildings/</u>

¹⁵⁵ Saini, J., Dutta, M. & Marques, G. A comprehensive review on indoor air quality monitoring systems for enhanced public health. *Sustain Environ Res* **30**, 6 (2020).

https://doi.org/10.1186/s42834-020-0047-y

https://sustainenvironres.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s42834-020-0047-y

¹⁵⁶ Saini, J., Dutta, M. & Marques, G. A comprehensive review on indoor air quality monitoring systems for enhanced public health. *Sustain Environ Res* **30**, 6 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1186/s42834-020-0047-y

https://sustainenvironres.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s42834-020-0047-y

¹⁵⁷ <u>https://www.epa.gov/indoor-air-quality-iaq/improving-indoor-air-quality</u>

¹⁵⁸ <u>https://www.carbonmonoxide.ie/carbon-monoxide-alarms/</u>

¹⁵⁹ Abbott J, Clancy L, Goodman P, McFarlane G, Regan B, Stewart R, Vedrenne M, Conlan B.
 Residential Solid Fuel and Air Pollution Study North South Ministerial Council (NSMC).
 Report jointly commissioned by Department of Environment for Northern Ireland and the
 Department of Environment, Community & Local Government, Ireland. Published by Ricardo Energy &
 Environment. ED 59284- Final_report_Dec15 | Issue Number 3 | Date 15/03/2016
 https://www.daera-ni.gov.uk/sites/default/files/publications/daera/residential-fuel-air-pollution-study.PDF

¹⁶⁰ Conclusions on the EU Clean Air Dialogue with Ireland, 2017 <u>https://s3-eu-west-</u> <u>1.amazonaws.com/govieassets/94853/ca655eed-7573-4d15-a296-65951b1</u>39cc7.pdf

¹⁶¹ Ovadnevaite J, Lin C, Rinaldi M, Ceburnis D, Buckley P, Coleman L, Facchini MC, Wenger J and O'Dowd C. Air pollution sources in Ireland. EPA Research Report 2021. ISBN: 978-1-80009-007-1. https://www.epa.ie/publications/research/air/Research Report 385.pdf

¹⁶² Chafe , Brauer M, Héroux ME, Klimont Z, Lanki T, Salonen RO and Smith, KR. Residential heating with wood and coal: health impacts and policy options in Europe and North America World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe. 2015

https://www.julkari.fi/handle/10024/129716

¹⁶³ Conclusions on the EU Clean Air Dialogue with Ireland, 2017 <u>https://s3-eu-west-</u> <u>1.amazonaws.com/govieassets/94853/ca655eed-7573-4d15-a296-65951b139cc7.pdf</u>

¹⁶⁴ World Health Organization. (2021). WHO global air quality guidelines: particulate matter (PM2.5 and PM10), ozone, nitrogen dioxide, sulfur dioxide and carbon monoxide: executive summary. World Health Organization. <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/345334</u>. Licens.: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO
 ¹⁶⁵ Abbott J, Clancy L, Goodman P, McFarlane G, Regan B, Stewart R, Vedrenne M, Conlan B. Residential Solid Fuel and Air Pollution Study North South Ministerial Council (NSMC).
 Report jointly commissioned by Department of Environment for Northern Ireland and the Department of Environment, Community & Local Government, Ireland. Published by Ricardo Energy & Environment. ED 59284- Final_report_Dec15 | Issue Number 3 | Date 15/03/2016

https://www.daera-ni.gov.uk/sites/default/files/publications/daera/residential-fuel-air-pollutionstudy.PDF

¹⁶⁶ Clean Air Strategy <u>https://www.gov.ie/en/consultation/0b94e-national-clean-air-strategy-consultation/</u>

¹⁶⁷ <u>https://www.who.int/social_determinants/publications/health-policies-manual/key-messages-en.pdf</u>

¹⁶⁸ Public Health Medicine Environment and Health Group (PHMEHG) Submission: Consultation on the Development of a New Solid Fuel Regulation for Ireland, 2021

https://www.hse.ie/eng/services/list/5/publichealth/publichealthdepts/env/air-quality-solid-fuel.pdf ¹⁶⁹ https://www.who.int/social_determinants/publications/health-policies-manual/key-messagesen.pdf

¹⁷⁰ Clean Air Strategy <u>https://www.gov.ie/en/consultation/0b94e-national-clean-air-strategy-consultation/</u>

¹⁷¹ Public Health Medicine Environment and Health Group (PHMEHG) Submission: Consultation on the Development of a New Solid Fuel Regulation for Ireland, 2021

https://www.hse.ie/eng/services/list/5/publichealth/publichealthdepts/env/air-quality-solid-fuel.pdf ¹⁷² Public Health Medicine Environment and Health Group (PHMEHG) Submission: Consultation on the Development of a New Solid Fuel Regulation for Ireland, 2021

https://www.hse.ie/eng/services/list/5/publichealth/publichealthdepts/env/air-quality-solid-fuel.pdf ¹⁷³ Clean Air Strategy <u>https://www.gov.ie/en/consultation/0b94e-national-clean-air-strategy-</u> <u>consultation/</u>